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          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: My colleagues,

          3  today we will be hearing testimony and holding a

          4  vote on proposed Introduction 96-A, a local law

          5  requiring the standards of conduct of employment

          6  agencies and employers of domestic and household

          7  employees placed by employment agencies.

          8                 We will also be voting on Resolution

          9  No. 135 which supports the rights and dignity of

         10  domestic workers. Domestic workers do not have the

         11  same protections against standardized working

         12  conditions as other workers.  Federal minimum wage

         13  law and overtime rules are supposed to protect

         14  workers from unfair wages, long hours and other

         15  abuses.  Yet most domestic workers do not receive

         16  these protections and many are taken advantage of

         17  economically.

         18                 According to a survey conducted by

         19  the Committee Against Anti-Asian Violence, it is not

         20  uncommon for domestic workers to earn as little as

         21  $50 a week.

         22                 Moreover, the majority of domestic

         23  workers in New York City are immigrant women of

         24  color who face obstacles of answering other

         25  occupations due to race and sex discrimination,
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          2  language barriers, and immigration status.

          3                 Accordingly, proposed Introduction

          4  96-A would require every employment agency licensed

          5  by the Department of Consumer Affairs to provide

          6  prospective employees and employers with a written

          7  statement of rights of domestic workers and the

          8  obligations of employers under federal and state

          9  law.  This list includes but is not limited to laws

         10  related to the minimum wage, overtime, and hours of

         11  work and unemployment coverage.

         12                 Today we expect to hear testimony

         13  from the Department of Consumer Affairs, domestic

         14  workers, advocates, relatives of employment

         15  agencies, and then others who are here for this

         16  legislation.

         17                 Due to time constraints, we are going

         18  to limit all testimony only to two minutes.  First

         19  though I would like to call my colleague who is the

         20  sponsor of this legislation to make a statement

         21  before we begin.  Council Member Gale Brewer.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you,

         23  I'm sorry I was late.  I kept my colleagues waiting

         24  and you waiting.  I chair the Select Committee on

         25  Technology and Government, and we were touring a
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          2  school trying to make sure there are computers in

          3  the school.  So there are many competing issues and

          4  I apologize.  I want to thank Allan Jennings, the

          5  Chairperson of this particular Committee for holding

          6  the hearing, Speaker's Office, Domestic Workers

          7  United, NYU Law Schools Immigrant Rights Clinic, the

          8  Mayor's Office, particularly Department of Consumer

          9  Affairs, Corporation Council, and the Commissioner

         10  of Immigration, Jews for Racial and Economic

         11  Justice, and everyone who testified last year.  I

         12  want to also thank Laura Popa and Bikku Kuruvila who

         13  have in fact put a lot of time and energy into these

         14  discussions and my colleagues, thirty- five of whom

         15  who have joined us in sponsoring the bill, and most

         16  importantly Brian Kavanaugh who is Chief of Staff of

         17  my office and General Counsel who made it all

         18  possible. The Intro and the Resolution mentioned by

         19  the chairperson are aimed at strengthening

         20  protections of domestic workers throughout our City.

         21                 As he indicated, Intro 96- A would

         22  require agencies that place domestic workers to

         23  obtain the signature of each employer on a Statement

         24  of Employee Rights and Employer Obligations,

         25  describing in detail one's rights and obligations on
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          2  both sides of the table. We also have a Resolution

          3  because as we know we can only do what the State

          4  Constitution says we can do and much labor law is

          5  decided on the state and federal level.  And so we

          6  hope the Resolution is just the beginning of looking

          7  at some ways to change the state and federal law.

          8  Since our last hearing we have negotiated with the

          9  Mayor's office, Department of Consumer Affairs and

         10  Corporation Council, regarding the text of the bill

         11  and the specific text of the Statement of Employee

         12  Rights and Employer Obligations, which is not part

         13  of the bill but is critical to accomplishing what we

         14  set out do to and again, we thank those agencies.

         15  Some of the changes, the Code of Conduct is now

         16  called at Statement of Employee Rights and Employer

         17  Obligations to better reflect its purpose.  Six

         18  years recordkeeping requirement has now has been

         19  reduced to three years to make the bill more

         20  consistent with state law and alleviate some of the

         21  inconvenience imposed on employment agencies.  The

         22  bill clarifies that the Statement of Job Conditions

         23  should be given to each worker at the point that

         24  each potential job is assigned.  This is a great day

         25  for women in this country.  Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Thank you

          3  Council Member Gale Brewer, to recognize member of

          4  my Committee, I will start to my right which is

          5  distinguished colleague, gentleman from the Bronx,

          6  Council Member Larry Seabrook; Council Member

          7  DeBlasio, member of this Committee from Brooklyn;

          8  and our new colleague, I'd like to welcome to our

          9  first Committee hearing, Council Member Espada, from

         10  the Bronx.  Welcome Council Members to the Council

         11  again and welcome to this Committee.  And visiting

         12  us we have John Liu from Queens, visiting us today

         13  on this Committee.

         14                 I'd like to call on the first

         15  testimony from Pauline Toole from the Commissioner

         16  for the Department of Consumer Affairs, if you would

         17  please come up. And Mrs. Toole due to time

         18  constraints we will give you three minutes, okay.

         19  Hope that's enough time.

         20                 MS. TOOLE:  Good morning, Chairman

         21  Jennings and members of the Civil Service and Labor

         22  Committee.  My name is Pauline Toole, and I am the

         23  Assistant Commissioner for the Department of the

         24  Department of Consumer Affairs.  Commissioner

         25  Dykstra asked me to thank you for this opportunity
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          2  to express the Department and Administration's

          3  support for Intro 96- A.  It will require employment

          4  agencies to make disclosures to domestic employees

          5  and their prospective employers about important

          6  workplace rights and responsibilities.  As Council

          7  Woman Brewer noted, we have spent some time working

          8  closely with Committee staff to craft the bill that

          9  now is before you.  We believe that implementing

         10  this bill may help domestic employees and their

         11  employers understand their dual workplace

         12  obligations.  Having ironed out the wrinkles in the

         13  course of our discussions, the Department and the

         14  administration strongly support the enactment of the

         15  disclosure requirements contained in this

         16  legislation.  We license employment agencies, and as

         17  we previously have testified, the agencies certainly

         18  can inspect to document that the employment agencies

         19  are distributing and maintaining the required

         20  records.  We thank you for the opportunity to

         21  comment on the bill because we worked so much on the

         22  substance of the bill, I just want to note there's a

         23  small technical glitch which that the bill takes

         24  effect immediately upon passage and I think you need

         25  to build in the publication time required by CAPA.
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          2  We have to publish two documents.  If you have

          3  questions, I will try to answer them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Thank you.

          5  Any questions from my colleagues?  No?  Council

          6  Member Liu.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair, and I want to first thank and commend Council

          9  Member Gale Brewer for leading the fight on this

         10  very important issue.  This is something that I have

         11  the pleasure of meeting with domestic, with members

         12  of Domestic Workers United back in January, back in

         13  December of 2001 before I and many of my colleagues

         14  had a chance to even get installed as members of the

         15  City Council.  But this is an issue that affects a

         16  huge number of people in this City and those people

         17  are often those without any voice in City

         18  government, particularly women of color who provide

         19  an invaluable service to individuals, to families,

         20  and ultimately to all of the people of the City of

         21  New York.  I know there's been a great deal of work

         22  that Gale Brewer has undertaken with our colleagues

         23  here in the City Council as well as conducting

         24  numerous discussions with members of the

         25  administration and with members of your department,
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          2  Assistant Commissioner.  So I thank Gale Brewer and

          3  I really want to thank the members of the Domestic

          4  Workers United, many of whom are here today for

          5  really keeping up the pressure and the spot light on

          6  this very important issue.  And I know that our

          7  friend Asian (phonetic) is out of town, and that's

          8  most unfortunate because I know how hard she has

          9  worked on this very important issue.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Mr. Liu, do

         11  you have a question for the Commissioner?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  The question for

         13  the Commissioner is that the technical glitch, is

         14  that the only thing that needs to be fixed in this

         15  bill before it can be passed?

         16                 MS. TOOLE:  As far as I know, yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Terrific.  Then

         18  I would urge the Commissioner, this Committee to

         19  pass this as quickly as possible both the Resolution

         20  and the Intro.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  The Chair

         22  recognizes Council Member DeBlasio.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO:  Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chair. Just a comment and question.  The comment

         25  is I want to thank Gale Brewer as well because often
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          2  times it's said legislatures that you're supposed to

          3  rise above parochial interests and look at the

          4  bigger picture and how to help people in need

          5  whether they happen to have political power or

          6  voting strength or any other feature. And I think

          7  what Gale Brewer has done here is looked at folks

          8  who I think have so many disadvantages, are facing

          9  so many hurdles they have to leap everyday

         10  literally, and few people have taken an interest to

         11  reach out and ensure their rights and this is a

         12  major step.  This is how fundamental change begins

         13  and I appreciate also the cooperative way you've

         14  approached it with all of us and the administration.

         15    I think that's really yielded results.  And I want

         16  to thank Pauline, who is a good friend, and I want

         17  to say that the Department of Consumer Affairs in a

         18  similar manner I think of all the City agencies has

         19  been particularly cooperative and communicative with

         20  this Council and we appreciate that very much. I

         21  think we've done a lot of great work together on

         22  this issue and the EITC, and other issues.  My

         23  question is, I think it's relevant in terms of what

         24  we experienced with EITC, I assume it's going to

         25  take a major educational campaign to make this work
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          2  and will that be Consumer Affairs or will that other

          3  agencies involved, what is your thinking about how

          4  to do that strategically?

          5                 MS. TOOLE:  It's a very good

          6  question.  I don't know the answer exactly.  One of

          7  the things we did when we were trying to figure out

          8  some of the wrinkles is we did a quick survey of the

          9  employment agencies.  There are only 355 licensed

         10  employment agencies in the City, and of those fewer

         11  than 25% placed domestic employees.  As we've

         12  discussed with advocates, we think the value of this

         13  legislation is that those employees will have

         14  information that they in turn will be able to pass

         15  on to people who don't use licensed employment

         16  agencies to find their jobs, and people who may be

         17  in the underground economy who, so that the ripple

         18  will sort of educate more people as the law takes

         19  effect.  Our, we can certainly inform the employment

         20  agencies, but I think that, we understand that falls

         21  short of the goal to have everyone know what the

         22  rights and responsibilities are.  There are issues

         23  having to do with translation in any sort of

         24  education campaign, we would use our resources as

         25  best we could.  Use all the City's agencies that are
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          2  working in communities to try to publicize it, use

          3  cross walks to try and publicize it on TV.  We would

          4  make efforts but I don't think at this point we have

          5  funding to launch a major educational campaign.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO:  Just one

          7  other suggestion, I think, if you think about the

          8  network of parent associations all over the City,

          9  obviously through the schools and elsewhere, but if

         10  you think about the PTA structures in the public

         11  schools, private schools, parochial schools I think

         12  you have a natural communication network there which

         13  could be tapped I think without too much expense or

         14  difficulty.  I believe there is a lot people in New

         15  York City who would do the right think, if it's

         16  something that they understand clearly.

         17  Unfortunately, it's tempting sometimes for people to

         18  cut corners and not recognize all they should be

         19  doing for the person in front of them.  But I think

         20  most people in the City if they understood the

         21  rights that perhaps are not being recognized right

         22  now that they would actually do the right thing and

         23  I think maybe the PTA is another way we can get that

         24  message out.

         25                 MS. TOOLE:  Good idea.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO:  Thank you.

          3  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Thank you.

          5  Any of my colleagues have questions?  Other

          6  committees do things differently but I like to give

          7  my colleagues a chance first.  Usually it goes to

          8  community chair rambles on and on and on before your

          9  colleagues get to ask a question, so since nobody

         10  else has a chance.  Now's my turn to ramble on and

         11  on and on at the end.  I sort of had this one

         12  follow- up question to Council Member DeBlasio's

         13  question in terms of your, how are you going about

         14  notifying the agencies regarding this new law?

         15  What's your method of doing that?

         16                 MS. TOOLE:  Well, that's in sense the

         17  easiest because we have a list of all those

         18  licensees, the 355 agencies that are licensed.  So

         19  mailing to them and giving them the sample documents

         20  is fairly straight forward.  I would also just say

         21  in passing that we have a group of students that the

         22  New School surveying issues regarding employment

         23  agencies and thinking about ways to calculate how

         24  many and how we might go about, how many there might

         25  be and how we might go about reaching out to
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          2  agencies that aren't licensed.  So then as bring

          3  those into the fold we would directly mail to them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Okay and

          5  usually you'll go into employment places and you'll

          6  see big posters regarding employees rights or you

          7  can provide a poster letting the employees know what

          8  their rights are at the agencies.  So when they

          9  enter the agencies for employment, is there going to

         10  be a requirement of your agency and which is an

         11  administrative act, it's not an act of the Council

         12  on your part to tell employer, employment agencies

         13  that they should put, hang a sign that's visible,

         14  which is a certain size that potential employees

         15  would be aware of what their new rights are.

         16                 MS. TOOLE:  In all honesty we hadn't

         17  contemplated doing that.  And I would have to check

         18  with the Law Department to see if we could do that,

         19  make that a requirement.  There currently is a

         20  requirement that the license be posted and under the

         21  existing law there are a number of things that have

         22  to be posted in employment agencies, as you note.

         23  But I don't know if this could be part of that

         24  without additional legislation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  Cause I know
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          2  that, for example on the State level in terms of the

          3  Department of Labor there is postings of employees

          4  rights and medical rights which is posted in a large

          5  poster.  But I believe those things are also

          6  pursuant to administrative acts on behalf of the

          7  agencies.  I don't if it's really legislation.  But

          8  if you think you need legislation to do it, please

          9  let this Committee know.  I'll be happy to produce

         10  legislation to require that it be posted.  I think

         11  maybe if you check with your legal department that

         12  maybe administratively we could make that a

         13  requirement to let agencies that they should post a

         14  sign that potential employees know what their rights

         15  are.

         16                 MS. TOOLE:  Okay, we will definitely

         17  look into it and get back to you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  And please get

         19  back to me if you feel to make legislation for that.

         20                 MS. TOOLE:  Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  All right.

         22  Well, thank you very much Miss Commissioner for that

         23  today.

         24                 MS. TOOLE:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:  The Committee
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          2  would like to call up Barbara Young from Domestic

          3  Workers United.  I'd just like to let the witnesses

          4  know that we've had already had hearings on this

          5  issue and we've already had hearings on this issue

          6  before so we're going to limit the testimonies to

          7  strictly to two minutes because of time constraints

          8  and about a minute and thirty seconds into your

          9  testimony I'm going to let you know that you have

         10  thirty seconds more, okay?  There's going to be a

         11  clock on the right side.

         12                 Go ahead and start, Ma'am.  Ma'am,

         13  could you speak into your mic?

         14                 MS. YOUNG: I'm here in support of

         15  Intro. 96 and Resolution 135, otherwise known as the

         16  Domestic Workers United bill.

         17                 I'm a full-time nanny and a steering

         18  committee member of Domestic Workers United, and I

         19  am here today in support of this bill. And to talk a

         20  little about the hardships we as domestics face, and

         21  the reason we need to have this bill signed into

         22  law.

         23                 Domestic Workers have been

         24  traditionally considered women's work, raising

         25  children and maintaining the home. The work has
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          2  historically been performed by women of color,

          3  mostly African American women, and has not been

          4  adequately respected or compensated. Since the end

          5  of slavery, many women did not know they had rights

          6  and had little power to enforce the rights they had.

          7                 Today nothing has changed except that

          8  it is now mostly immigrant women from the Caribbean

          9  and other third world countries.

         10                 You can see us every day on the

         11  street taking care of the future leaders of

         12  tomorrow.

         13                 We have an estimated 600,000 women in

         14  New York metropolitan area working as nannies,

         15  housekeepers, elderly care givers and cooks, and

         16  without domestic workers, New York City would stop

         17  in its tracks. Change is now overdue, so I say pass

         18  this bill.

         19                 The simple measures of this bill

         20  would make a world of difference to the many

         21  employers who are unaware of their existing laws and

         22  all the workers who do not know their rights.

         23                 This is an important step to raising

         24  standards and bringing dignity and respect to

         25  domestic workers, so I say pass this bill.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you, Ms.

          3  Young.

          4                 Any questions from the Committee

          5  members?

          6                 Thank you, Ms. Young.

          7                 MS. YOUNG: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Jacqeline

          9  Maxwell, from Domestic Workers United.

         10                 MR. MAXWELL: Yes, I was going to read

         11  something for another person, but she came out,

         12  Justina Dumpangol, but she's here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay.

         14                 Ma'am, could you state your full name

         15  for the record and what name you represent?

         16                 MS. DUMPANGOL: My name is Justina,

         17  and I'm from Malaysia. I've been a domestic worker

         18  in New York for about three and a half, four and a

         19  half years.

         20                 I am in support of Intro. No. 96.

         21  Because of my experience as a domestic worker who

         22  has been to agencies. I have been to many agencies

         23  over the years to apply for jobs, and most of the

         24  time I've been unlucky.

         25                 I would like to share one experience
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          2  with you. I went to an agency in Manhattan three

          3  years ago, and the woman who worked there told me I

          4  was too old and would never find a good job.

          5                 Then she said she had one

          6  housekeeping job for me in South Hampton, and that I

          7  had to take it because I might not find another job.

          8  I believe she knew how bad this job was because

          9  other workers that placed had been complained.

         10                 It was not an interview. She send me

         11  to work there without telling me about the employer,

         12  condition or anything. When I arrived I was put to

         13  work right away and often work more than two weeks

         14  without a day off.

         15                 My employer kept her pet snakes in

         16  the basement near by bedroom. When she would clean

         17  the snakes' cages she would take the skin and hang

         18  around the basement. I was so upset about it.

         19                 One day her son locked me in the

         20  basement and as I tried to call out for help, I got

         21  injured.

         22                 The nanny found me and called an

         23  ambulance. I thought I must do something before I

         24  left this job, and decided I must get justice for

         25  what happened, that was two years ago, and I'm in
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          2  the support of this intro bill because of my

          3  experience with agencies. Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I have one

          5  question.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The chair

          7  recognizes Council Member Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. Did

          9  you feel there was anyplace to call about this kind

         10  of treatment? Did you feel there was any government

         11  agency or anybody whom you could make a complaint

         12  to?

         13                 MS. DUMPANGOL: No. Because I was not

         14  allowed to go back to my place in Queens, and I was

         15  kept day, and when I wanted to go back for day off,

         16  I was told not to. And she even threatened me that

         17  "I should have left you for dead. Nobody knows you

         18  are here. That is the agency and myself have never

         19  signed a contract."

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Ma'am, wait.

         23  Wait, wait, wait. We're not finished with you yet.

         24  Come back.

         25                 I just want you to be aware and I
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          2  want the public to be aware, any time that someone

          3  locks you in a basement, it's called false

          4  imprisonment, and it's against the law, and any time

          5  you get out of that situation, you should

          6  immediately get to the nearest phone booth when you

          7  can and call 911 or contact the police immediately,

          8  because anyone who falsely imprisons you or kidnaps

          9  you, it's against the law to do so. And people

         10  should know that after they're in a situation that

         11  someone locks them in a room, that they can call the

         12  police and nothing is going to happen to you,

         13  because that person is going to be in big trouble.

         14                 But the Chair now recognizes Council

         15  Member Seabrook who has a question for you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         17  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 Just a point, and, again, it's the

         19  importance of this bill, because you indicated that

         20  there were several charges that you could have

         21  brought against the agency, even if there was not,

         22  and I still don't think that the statute of

         23  limitation has expired, because there was an age

         24  discrimination issue when that person told you that

         25  you was too old. And, so, I would hope that you
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          2  would seek legal counsel and perhaps bring a

          3  discrimination suit on the basis of age

          4  discrimination, as well, against that agency.

          5                 MS. DUMPANGOL: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: As well as the

          7  false imprisonment, I don't think there's a statute

          8  at this time. How long ago did this happen?

          9                 MS. DUMPANGOL: I may say it's three

         10  and a half years ago, but when the 911 brought me to

         11  the hospital and doctor in the hospital --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: So you did

         13  contact 911 after you went to the hospital?

         14                 MS. DUMPANGOL: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And what

         16  happened?

         17                 MS. DUMPANGOL: This is the second

         18  time I was brought by 911 in Elmhurst Hospital. The

         19  first time was in South Hampton, and I didn't see

         20  any police come. The police came but they talk to my

         21  employer, but this second one, when I came back to

         22  Queens where I live and I was brought to 911, they

         23  brought me to the hospital again and the Dr.

         24  Referred me to cuts and to Asian American Legal

         25  Defense.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And what did

          3  the police do?

          4                 MS. DUMPANGOL: The police stopped --

          5  the first time when I was brought by 911 --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: No, the second

          7  time in New York City.

          8                 MS. DUMPANGOL: The second time.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: When you were

         10  in New York City the second time.

         11                 MS. DUMPANGOL: They brought me to the

         12  hospital. They gave me like, I don't know his name,

         13  that this is abusive, this is exploitation.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The District

         15  Attorney?

         16                 MS. DUMPANGOL: I'm not very sure,

         17  because I'm not --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I know that

         19  minimally you also have a workmen's comp case and I

         20  don't think statute of limitations run out of that.

         21                 MS. DUMPANGOL: At the present I am

         22  having an attorney.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: What I'm asking

         24  you to do is, one of my staff members is here, I'm

         25  going to have you to see him after the testimony,
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          2  and let's work with the state to see what we can do

          3  to help you further, okay?

          4                 Thank you, Ms. Dumpangol.

          5                 MS. DUMPANGOL: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Committee

          7  would like to call Alan Friedman for A Choice Nanny

          8  And INA.

          9                 Sir, if you could please state for

         10  your record your name and which agency you

         11  represent. And, again, I want you to be mindful that

         12  you only have two minutes to testify.

         13                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Does this count as part

         14  of the two minutes?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Yes, sir, it

         16  does. Your time started.

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN: My name is Alan

         18  Friedman. I own an agency called A Choice Nanny,

         19  it's a licensed agency here in New York City. I'm

         20  also Vice President of the International Nanny

         21  Association, which represents agencies and nannies

         22  across the United States, and we have eight agencies

         23  in New York City that are all licensed agencies and

         24  are members of the INA.

         25                 Last spring the testimony was given
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          2  by members of domestic workers, and by a group of

          3  licensed agency owners.

          4                 When I left there was a genuine

          5  belief that based on what was said here there would

          6  be serious discussion about what to do about abuse

          7  and real revision of this proposal.

          8                 What I feel that we have here now is

          9  basically nothing. I don't see how any of the words

         10  in this bill are going to affect the abuse that's

         11  rampant. I acknowledge that there is abuse, but I

         12  don't think this bill will have any beneficial

         13  affect on the lives of the domestic workers.

         14                 I challenge anybody here to question

         15  me about any part of the bill that they think is

         16  going to help these people.

         17                 The villains responsible for abuse

         18  are not being addressed here. They seem to be beyond

         19  the law. There are parents, families, there are

         20  agencies out there that are not licensed, they

         21  operate in the shadows. The Department of Consumer

         22  Affairs has no effect on them, they don't do

         23  anything with them, and these are the people that

         24  need to be addressed. There is no attempt to contact

         25  us, as we had suggested at the end of the testimony
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          2  last year, so that we could participate in making,

          3  creating something that would be really effective.

          4                 I don't see how any of the language

          5  in this bill is going to help any of the people who

          6  are being abused, and for that reason I'm opposed to

          7  it.

          8                 I'm not opposed to the resolution.

          9  The resolution is fine.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, the bill

         11  asks agencies to let employees know of their rights.

         12  Do you think there's anything wrong with informing

         13  an employee of their rights.

         14                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I have no problem with

         15  that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay.

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I mean, it's not going

         18  to help the abused domestics, because the people we

         19  work with are not abusing --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: But you don't

         21  impose the bill that it informs employees of their

         22  rights; is that correct?

         23                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Absolutely not.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: So, you feel

         25  the bill should be a little stronger?
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          2                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I think the bill has to

          3  address the people who are abusing the domestic

          4  workers, and I don't think the licensed agencies of

          5  New York City are doing that. But I do think that

          6  there are families that are. The people who hire

          7  them may be, and certainly I believe and I feel very

          8  deeply about the cases that we heard last spring and

          9  what we just heard, but I don't think this bill is

         10  addressing the abusers.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Mr. Friedman, I

         12  hear you loud and clear. And in the future we'll

         13  look into something else in the future to make it a

         14  little stronger. The statements that you made are

         15  quite correct.

         16                 One thing I would have to say,

         17  though, this Committee worked very hard, and Council

         18  Member Brewer had very good intentions when she

         19  wrote this bill, and she wanted to make sure that we

         20  do something to protect employees' rights,

         21  particularly domestic workers, and inform them of

         22  what their rights are. And I understand everything

         23  you're saying, and based on the testimony from the

         24  last hearing, and the testimony today, and based on

         25  what you said, you said that you thought this bill
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          2  is good, and you think it should go a little

          3  further, and I'm probably inclined to agree with

          4  you. In the future, we're going to look into

          5  something to make it a little bit stronger, but

          6  sometimes in government we have to take one step at

          7  a time. This is the first step in the right

          8  direction, and we look forward to the future of

          9  making another great step in the right direction.

         10                 Before you leave, my colleague from

         11  the Bronx, Council Member Seabrook, has a question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chairman.

         14                 Mr. Friedman, you had indicated

         15  because Councilwoman Brewer had the wisdom and the

         16  tenaciousness to make this happen, if you say that

         17  this isn't and it's not going to do, what do you

         18  consider the ideal bill, and if you are part of an

         19  agency and a group, how do you police your

         20  colleagues? What do you consider to be the type of

         21  bill that we need? And then how do you police your

         22  colleagues?

         23                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, certainly as

         24  licensed agencies we expect to be policed by the

         25  Department of Consumer Affairs. And I wish that the
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          2  Department of Consumer Affairs had the manpower to

          3  actually police us, I don't think they do. And I'm

          4  talking about the licensed agencies. The problem is

          5  that there are numerous, I imagine, I mean from what

          6  I understand, unlicensed agencies, that the

          7  Department of Consumer Affairs does not have the

          8  address for, they don't know where they are. And the

          9  families that they work with may very well be

         10  abusive. The problem here is that the people that

         11  they're working with are desperate people. There are

         12  people that are afraid because they may be

         13  undocumented, that they're not going to be able to

         14  stay in this country, or they can't speak proper

         15  English, and so it's hard for them to get jobs,

         16  there may be other disabilities that they have, and

         17  these are people that can't walk away from abuse.

         18                 The people that the licensed agencies

         19  work with, for the most part, as far as I know, are

         20  experienced, they've done this for a long time,

         21  they're legally here, we check every one of them,

         22  and if they are abused can walk away from the job,

         23  just like somebody who is abused in the West Wing of

         24  the White House, if they're working there and

         25  they're abused, they can walk away from the job.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: No, they can

          3  actually bring suit.  They can sue people.

          4                 MR. FRIEDMAN: That's right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: These are

          6  people at the agency -- when I ask you, as if you

          7  felt that this wasn't strong enough, and you tell me

          8  what we should have as that strengthened bill that

          9  needs to be done to correct this injustice?

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, for one thing,

         11  the Department of Consumer Affairs, I gather, has

         12  the power to go out and find agencies that are not

         13  licensed.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: That's

         15  right.

         16                 MR. FRIEDMAN: And they're in

         17  violation of the law. And I don't think they do

         18  that.

         19                 I haven't heard any testimony here

         20  about that at all.

         21                 This bill is dealing with the good

         22  guys. They're saying to the good guys, you have to

         23  do this and you have to do that. It's not going to

         24  change anything.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Have you
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          2  ever had individual reporting any abuse to your

          3  agency about you sending out people and having

          4  problems there, and what have you done, if that's

          5  the case?

          6                 MR. FRIEDMAN: The only type of abuse

          7  that we have ever come in contact with is where a

          8  nanny may call me and say, this family is, they're

          9  harassing me, or they don't like the way I take care

         10  of their child, or something like that, and my

         11  answer to that is, fine, I can mediate between you

         12  and the family on that issue, or if you don't and

         13  you're not happy, leave. And they can do that,

         14  because they're professional people, they're

         15  professional nannies, and they can leave that job

         16  and go get another job.

         17                 I mean, obviously in this economy

         18  it's always difficult to get another job. But

         19  they're certainly people who are earning in excess

         20  of $500 a week, or a minimum of $500 a week, they're

         21  earning $10 to $20 an hour. They're not desperate

         22  because of their circumstances, and they can leave

         23  an abusive position.

         24                 And what I'm saying is that the

         25  agencies that this is addressing, the licensed
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          2  agencies that this bill is addressing, for the most

          3  part are dealing with those kind of people.

          4                 It's the illegals, the illegal

          5  agencies, the ones that are not licensed, it's

          6  families that hire off the street, when I say "off

          7  the street," by word of mouth or they find out that

          8  somebody is available and they just hire them.

          9  There's no control. And the licensed agency is a

         10  control fact. We do have the power, and we do stay

         11  very much in touch with our families and the nannies

         12  after we place them.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Just one

         14  final question, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 Have you had a situation where you've

         16  had to place a worker in a household and to remove

         17  that worker because of the abuse by the

         18  quasi-employer, and have you sent anybody back to

         19  that person?

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, let me make it

         21  very clear that it's not a quasi employer. The way

         22  we operate, we're employer paid agencies.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: It is a

         24  quasi employer because if something happens to that

         25  person in that household, there is a compensation
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          2  suit that can be brought not against you but against

          3  that home, so there's a quasi-employer relationship.

          4  You're just the shield for that individual, but in

          5  reality, the workmen's comp case will be brought

          6  against that person.

          7                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So there is

          9  a quasi.

         10                 MR. FRIEDMAN: All right. To me it's

         11  real. The parents, the nannies are not on our

         12  payroll. We don't pay them. We don't get any fees

         13  from them. We only have contracted with the

         14  families.

         15                 So, yes, we put ourselves in a

         16  position of trying to help, if we can, because we

         17  want to continue to work with that nanny in the

         18  future, we want to continue to work with that family

         19  in the future, so we want to work. But if there's

         20  abuse, my advice to the nanny, if we can't work it

         21  out by talking is leave. Get out of there.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, you

         23  know, just to finish, I don't want to drag this out.

         24  One of the things that I think that this bill is a

         25  start, nor is it the end result, because part of the

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  problem that we have is that there has to be a

          3  relationship. This is an employer/employee

          4  relationship, there's a lot of other workers' issues

          5  that's not dealt with by the situation as

          6  established with you as a quasi and that person, so

          7  it eliminates any other benefits as well.

          8                 MR. FRIEDMAN: All right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So, this is

         10  a start, but I agree with you, it needs to be

         11  bigger, and you might not like it bigger but it

         12  should be bigger because this is a workers' issue,

         13  and it has to be dealt with on that level that these

         14  are workers who are employed, and it should be

         15  through you, and if it's through that person that

         16  contracted, I guarantee you'll clean this act up.

         17  Because the lawsuits will be dealt with.

         18                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I would like to just

         19  make one final statement, and that is, yes, I think

         20  there has to be further steps taken, and I can only

         21  wish that the Council or whoever takes those steps,

         22  at least gives us an opportunity to have input.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Oh, I'm

         24  certain of that.

         25                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Well, we didn't between
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          2  last spring and this bill.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And like I told

          4  you before, this is the beginning, and your wish is

          5  going to come true, in terms of the things that

          6  you've stated to us before. We heard you and we will

          7  act on your statements, I guarantee you that.

          8                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you, sir.

         10                 The Committee now calls on Florrie

         11  Burke from Safe Horizon.

         12                 Ma'am, could you state your name for

         13  the record? And you have only two minutes. Thank

         14  you.

         15                 MS. BURKE: My name is Florrie Burke,

         16  and I'm the Senior Director of Safe Horizon's

         17  anti-trafficking of persons program. I want to thank

         18  the Committee and Council Members Gale Brewer and

         19  Alan Jennings for inviting us to testify this

         20  morning.

         21                 Safe Horizon is, I'm here to

         22  underscore the importance of 96-4 (sic) and Safe

         23  Horizon's support for it.

         24                 Safe Horizon is the nation's leading

         25  crime victim assistance and advocacy organization,
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          2  and our mission is to provide support, prevent

          3  violence and promote justice for victims of crime

          4  and abuse.

          5                 We have assisted over 350,000 New

          6  Yorkers each year through more than 85 programs

          7  located throughout the City.

          8                 Human trafficking is a form of modern

          9  day slavery, and human trafficking as defined in the

         10  victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act

         11  of 2000 is the recruitment harboring transportation

         12  provision or obtaining of a person for labor of

         13  services, through the use of force, fraud or

         14  coercion for the purpose of subjection to

         15  involuntary servitude, peonage, debt bondage or

         16  slavery.

         17                 In the United States alone some rough

         18  estimated indicate that up to 100,000 persons are

         19  trafficked annually. New York City is a

         20  well-recognized transit and destination point for

         21  traffick persons. People are trafficked for domestic

         22  service, sexual exploitation, factory labor,

         23  restaurant work, and other forms of labor services.

         24                 We at Safe Horizon have been working

         25  with identified traffick persons since 1997, and
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          2  were the first NGO in New York State to be awarded

          3  grants from the federal government as a result of

          4  appropriations that were mandated by Congress

          5  following the passage of victims of Trafficking and

          6  Violence Protection Act 2000.

          7                 Since January, we have provided

          8  services to more than 45 traffic persons

          9  representing 20 different countries.

         10                 About one-third of these clients were

         11  trafficked for the purpose of domestic labor

         12  exploitation and we are aware of many other cases

         13  that are awaiting investigation by law enforcement.

         14                 Hiding behind the doors of many New

         15  York City homes exist a form of domestic servitude

         16  or modern day slavery.

         17                 Based on our experience with our

         18  clients, we have found that many domestic workers

         19  toil in isolation, and are economically, physically

         20  and often sexually exploited.

         21                 For example, one client told us that

         22  she was imprisoned in a New York City home for over

         23  a year.

         24                 Another client from South Asia was

         25  told by her employers there were no people who spoke
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          2  her language in the community. As it happened she

          3  was working in a section of Queens with the largest

          4  population of South Asians in the country.

          5                 Often times these domestic workers

          6  are paid less than the mandated minimum wage, if

          7  they are paid at all, and currently they are forced

          8  to work overtime and do many more tasks than agreed

          9  to.

         10                 Another client, a 23-year-old woman,

         11  was paid on a very inconsistent basis and was asked

         12  occasionally to use her own money to buy food for

         13  the family.

         14                 We've heard repeatedly from our

         15  clients about physical, sexual and psychological

         16  abuse at the hands of their employers.

         17                 A Safe Horizon client who was African

         18  was sexually assaulted and threatened with death if

         19  she were to seek outside help.

         20                 Since some domestic workers are

         21  unsure of protections their legal immigration status

         22  affords them, they are afraid of reporting these

         23  violations to authorities.

         24                 We believe the passage of this

         25  domestic workers and household employees bill will
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          2  provide the practical tools by which potential

          3  domestic workers can be educated to their rights and

          4  employers' obligations.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Ma'am, you have

          6  to please close. We gave you an extra minute,

          7  because we started the clock a minute late.

          8                 MS. BURKE: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay? We've got

         10  three.

         11                 MS. BURKE: All right, sorry.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I want to thank

         13  you for your testimony. Again, don't be worried that

         14  we didn't get to finish it because we had this

         15  hearing before and we're just here just to hear

         16  people's final statements.

         17                 MS. BURKE: I realize.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 MS. BURKE: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I'd like to

         22  recognize Nahar Alam from the Southeast Asian.

         23                 Nahar Alam?

         24                 Again, could you please -- I know I

         25  botched your name. I'm sorry. But if you will state
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          2  your name clearly for the record, and where you're

          3  from.

          4                 MS. ALAM: My name is Nahar Alam, and

          5  I work with Southeast Asian Domestic Workers.

          6                 I came to support this bill because

          7  we need this bill to pass. Thank you, Gale, and we

          8  are doing very good job, I think. We are here to

          9  tell you their story. And Andolan work with

         10  thousands of workers, I will just give you one

         11  incident, with agency work with worker. Worker

         12  worked with employer and didn't pay like three

         13  months, and then when the worker were called they

         14  say they not responsible for that. They said you

         15  didn't do good job, that's why they are not paying.

         16  So that kind of incident, very often it's not legal,

         17  so that's why we have people, that's also happening,

         18  the same thing.

         19                 I am the one who also suffer, and I

         20  was a worker two years, four and a half years, and I

         21  suffer the same way, had to sleep in the basement

         22  and no other opportunity. I didn't know how to call

         23  911. I was also not allowed to touch the phones, so

         24  how I'm going to call 911, and always like people

         25  contract with a non-worker is employer and they have
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          2  a power so that's why it's not possible. I became a

          3  director because I had to suffer and then that time

          4  I didn't have, we didn't have any organization in

          5  this city, and that's the first organization we

          6  founded in the City to save this kind of worker.

          7                 Part this bill is not that much going

          8  to help but it help that there are law and they

          9  should follow and we can, you know, bring them for

         10  justice and that is why it should pass the bill and

         11  support the bill. And I am here for support because

         12  I suffered myself and I am working with thousands.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

         14                 MS. ALAM: Thank you so much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Our next person

         16  to testify is Justina Dumpangol.

         17                 MS. ALAM: She went already.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: She left? Okay.

         19                 I will then call on Kevin (sic)

         20  Greenhouse and Clifford Greenhouse, of the Pavillion

         21  Agency.

         22                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: How are you? Good

         23  afternoon.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Good afternoon.

         25  Please state your name.
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          2                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Cliff Greenhouse,

          3  Pavillion Agency.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Press the

          5  button. You have two minutes.

          6                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Cliff Greenhouse,

          7  Pavillion Agency.

          8                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Hi. I'm Keith

          9  Greenhouse, President of Pavillion Agency.

         10                 Nice to see you people again. It's

         11  been a year.

         12                 For the welfare of domestic workers,

         13  it is imperative that the testimony we are about to

         14  deliver be taken very seriously, as this, indeed is

         15  an issue of great importance.

         16                 We are compelled to say this because

         17  one year ago we sat before this very Committee,

         18  giving similar testimony, and apparently we were not

         19  heard as this law is now before you for a vote, with

         20  absolutely no input from employment agencies.

         21                 Pavillion Agency wholeheartedly

         22  supports any legislation which would promote a more

         23  professional and respectable household employment

         24  industry, particularly legislation that protect

         25  household workers.
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          2                 We feel, however, that this

          3  legislation falls far short of its goal to protect

          4  household workers. In fact, we believe this will do

          5  nothing to truly help those who need it most.

          6                 Pavillion Agency is licensed by the

          7  New York City Department of Consumer Affairs, and

          8  places people in positions that far exceed, far

          9  exceed the requirement of this legislation.

         10                 In most cases the salaries are at

         11  least double the legal minimum wage, and many of our

         12  placements far exceed triple the minimum wage.

         13                 In addition, all of our placements

         14  provide two days off per week, at least two paid

         15  vacation, paid holidays, sick and personal days and

         16  in many cases full house coverage.

         17                 I am confident that my colleagues

         18  here today who are also licensed by the Department

         19  of Consumer Affairs would agree that this holds true

         20  for their agencies as well.

         21                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Unfortunately,

         22  there are numerous agencies in and around the New

         23  York area that operate illegally and unlicensed.

         24  They operate with total impunity.

         25                 These underground agencies openly
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          2  place domestic workers in positions with very poor

          3  working conditions, extremely low wages and then

          4  offer no benefits of any kind.

          5                 What makes this even more tragic is

          6  that these illegal agencies illegally charge these

          7  workers exorbitant fees, as much as one salary for

          8  these substandard jobs.

          9                 Reputable licensed agencies never

         10  charge fees of any kind to the workers. Our single

         11  most valuable resource is our domestic worker pool

         12  of applicants. Our primary goal is to ensure that

         13  the workers we represent are placed in respectable

         14  homes and treated fairly.

         15                 Over 90 percent of the applicants we

         16  place are either referred to us or were placed by us

         17  in previous jobs.

         18                 If we did not pay such careful

         19  attention to the welfare of our household workers,

         20  we would not enjoy the fine reputation that we do.

         21                 Without the support of the workers

         22  that we have represented for over 40 years, we would

         23  not be here today. We have an endless amount of

         24  thank you letters from the domestic workers we

         25  represent as testimony to this fact.
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          2                 To add insult to injury, the Internet

          3  has acted as an open invitation for hundreds of

          4  out-of-state agencies to compete in the New York

          5  City marketplace, also with total impunity to the

          6  existing regulations of the Department of Consumer

          7  Affairs.

          8                 Unlicensed agencies attract household

          9  workers who are more vulnerable to abuse, again,

         10  unlicensed agencies do that.

         11                 In particular, undocumented illegal

         12  aliens who are desperate for work.

         13                 This proposed law does nothing to

         14  protect them from these out of state agencies.

         15                 My colleagues and I have complained

         16  frequently over the course of many years and to our

         17  frustration, the Department of Consumer Affairs has

         18  never taken action against these unlicensed

         19  agencies.

         20                 We have pointed out how easy it can

         21  be --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Can you please

         23  wrap up your testimony? Sorry. Just wrap it up.

         24                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: This is very

         25  important testimony. We're two people, so if we

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  could be granted a little extra time.

          3                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We're just about

          4  done, and you have the statements there as well.

          5                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: We have pointed

          6  out how easy it can be to investigate these

          7  agencies, being that they openly advertise their

          8  illegal services in numerous publications, including

          9  the New York Times and across the Internet.

         10                 A recent study shows that more than

         11  60 percent of the agencies that advertise in the New

         12  York City marketplace, operate unlicensed or

         13  out-of-town agencies, not subject to the scrutiny of

         14  consumer affairs.

         15                 This clearly indicates that the vast

         16  majority of domestic workers placed in the New York

         17  area come from unlicensed agencies.

         18                 Furthermore, it is extremely

         19  important to realize that the majority of domestic

         20  workers did not receive their positions from an

         21  agency at all. The reason for this is simple: The

         22  fees we charge our clients to hire a domestic worker

         23  are typically in excess of $5,000. Our clients are

         24  enormously wealthy and happy to fairly compensate

         25  their employees for a job well done.
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          2                 It is unlikely that those families

          3  who typically take advantage of household workers

          4  would be willing to pay the substantial fees we

          5  charge.

          6                 The abusive families often pay their

          7  employees less in an entire year than what they

          8  would pay a licensed agency for their services.

          9                 We believe that the City Council

         10  should focus its energy and resources on enforcing

         11  the laws that currently exist with particular

         12  emphasis on forcing unlicensed agencies to comply

         13  with the existing laws and become licensed by the

         14  Department of Consumer Affairs. Should they qualify.

         15  There are strict guidelines in place for an agency

         16  owner to qualify for a license, extensive background

         17  and reference checks, proven financial stability,

         18  fingerprinting, to name a few. We value our license

         19  and are proud to advertise it.

         20                 We would never do anything to

         21  jeopardize our license. The nature of household

         22  employment is unlike any other in history. Because

         23  you are dealing with a family setting, you never

         24  know what twists and turns lie ahead.

         25                 Unlike a formal office or
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          2  bureaucratic position where the only way for

          3  conditions to change is by processes that often take

          4  many months of debate, deliberation and preparation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I'm going to

          6  have to ask you to please close your statement at

          7  this time.

          8                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You do have

         10  your statement in the record, and I just have one

         11  question for you.

         12                 Do you feel that this bill that's

         13  addressed today, Intro. 96-A, would in any way hurt

         14  your agency?

         15                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Tremendously.

         16  Tremendously, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I want to know,

         18  how do you feel it hurts you informing people of

         19  their rights?

         20                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Well, the premise

         21  behind this bill is terrific. We are all for

         22  anything that will help these domestic --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Tell me, how

         24  does it hurt you?

         25                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: It's going to
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          2  burden us with an enormous amount of paperwork,

          3  we're going to have a lot of resistance from the

          4  clients. The purpose in our testimony, these jobs

          5  change on a daily basis.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I understand.

          7                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: The client's

          8  children might decide to go to another school. Now

          9  this person has to take this child, you know,

         10  instead of two blocks away, four blocks away to

         11  another school, and that is not in the written

         12  contract that we have them sign.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay.

         14                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Clients are not

         15  going to sign this. They will be forced, or they're

         16  going to call these unlicensed agencies. We already

         17  lose enough clients to these unlicensed agencies.

         18                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: What's going to

         19  happen here is they are not going to call licensed

         20  agencies like us. They're going to continue calling

         21  the unlicensed agencies, and you're not going to

         22  enforce that.

         23                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: I have a couple of

         24  questions to close this out, if that's okay?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You're not
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          2  allowed to ask questions.

          3                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: No?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: No.

          5                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Council Member

          7  Seabrook.

          8                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Well, can I just

          9  close this out with a little statement? A quick

         10  one-sentence statement?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Council

         12  Member has a question.

         13                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Oh, sure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman.

         16                 You had indicated, sir, that you deal

         17  with reputable people who pay a tremendous fee for

         18  the service in which you provide.

         19                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So they

         21  would not be seeking people who are illegal.

         22                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: That is correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So you don't

         24  have to worry about people leaving, because you

         25  indicated that these are reputable people who pay a
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          2  lot of money --

          3                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: That's absolutely

          4  true.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: You they

          6  believe in you and you believe in them.

          7                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: That's right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: They won't

          9  be seeking people illegal.

         10                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: No. No, that's not

         11  the point.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: It is. You

         13  indicated that these people would be leaving you and

         14  going to someone else who is illegal.

         15                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: An illegal agency

         16  where through them these illegal agencies are not

         17  going to be governed by this very law that you're

         18  trying to pass.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: No, because

         20  there is a civic responsibility on you.

         21                 I don't know the agencies, but you

         22  do, and if you know that they're a violation, you

         23  have a civic responsibility, as well as a --

         24                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We have documented

         25  truth of numerous times --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Did you send

          3  it to --

          4                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE:-- The Department

          5  of Consumer Affairs and they ignore us.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, then

          7  we'll call Department of Consumer Affairs.

          8                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: In our statement

          9  it clearly says that our complaints have fell on

         10  deaf ears with Consumer Affairs.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, I'll

         12  tell you that this bill, this bill is important

         13  because this is the first step, and I think that

         14  there's an obligation, and I'm certain that this

         15  Committee would be willing to deal with expanding

         16  its scope as well as the power that Consumer Affairs

         17  have.

         18                 But I think it's important to do

         19  this, and it means that you will have to tell your

         20  clients that you will continue to be the type of

         21  agency that you are, and so that they will

         22  understand that you are a responsible agency and

         23  that these things are required because that's what

         24  the best does. But there has to be some sense or

         25  beginning of cleaning up this act.
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          2                 If you're not the culprits, you don't

          3  have to worry about it.

          4                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: A great beginning

          5  would be to even attempt to enforce the laws that

          6  already exist. The laws that you are proposing right

          7  now do absolutely nothing to target those illegal

          8  agencies.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: This bill

         10  right now, you're saying that all this is in effect

         11  right now?

         12                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: It is?

         14                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: The only thing

         15  that's not in effect is the fact that we do not have

         16  to insist on our clients signing documents and

         17  providing a detailed work descriptions for every

         18  interview.

         19                 I don't know if you have any idea, we

         20  send out maybe 20, 30 interviews a day, and not

         21  hires, these are just interviews.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: These are

         23  employers, this is an employer/employee

         24  relationship. That's what we have to establish even

         25  with these agencies.
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          2                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: But we're not the

          3  employers.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, see,

          5  that's where the problem is. See, you know what,

          6  it's almost as if nobody is the employee.

          7                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: There are abuses

          8  in working in offices, there are abuses in --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Let's stay to

         10  the subject.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: My point is

         12  that there is an employer and an employee. We're now

         13  getting to the point of defining who is the

         14  employer.

         15                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: You're trying to

         16  be agencies in a category as being employers of --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, who

         18  is?

         19                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: The people who pay

         20  them.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So, who do

         22  they bring their suit against?

         23                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Their employer,

         24  the people who pay them.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Oh, really?
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          2  So this is administrative work that you're doing?

          3                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: That's correct.

          4                 Nothing would happen to us. If

          5  they're abused by somebody, they're abused by the

          6  people that pay them.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So you're

          8  out of it?

          9                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Well, there's such

         10  a big government presence. Why are you asking the

         11  small, and we're maybe ten percent, or five percent

         12  of all the workers that are placed, why are you

         13  asking this small minority to police the industry? I

         14  mean, there's a conflict of interest for you to ask

         15  us to police our clients.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: No. No. The

         17  conflict is, is that you are soliciting people for

         18  employment, so therefore you actually employ that

         19  person, because you receive a fee for that person.

         20                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We don't employ

         21  them.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Yes, you do.

         23                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: No, we do not.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Oh, yes.

         25                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Do we pay payroll
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          2  taxes for anybody?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Do they pay

          4  payroll taxes?

          5                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Yes, they do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Oh, yeah?

          7  Oh, okay.

          8                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Do they pay health

          9  insurance? Yes, they do.

         10                 Do they take vacation? Yes, they do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Oh, okay.

         12                 So, has there ever been any abuse,

         13  has there ever been any abuse reported from one of

         14  your clients by one of those employed to you, that

         15  you had to remove a person?

         16                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: We've never had to

         17  remove a person.

         18                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: There have been

         19  cases --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, wait a

         21  second now. Hold it. Somebody's got to answer --

         22                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: You hear

         23  complaints. Of course you hear complaints - "they're

         24  not nice to me. They disrespected me. They didn't

         25  give the proper days off," or whatever.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So what do

          3  you do?

          4                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We step in. We get

          5  in touch with the client and say, hey, what's going

          6  on, this is the agreement you made with them, you

          7  either comply with that or this person is leaving

          8  the job and we'll find them another job. We always

          9  stand by our workers. Always.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I agree.

         11                 Mr. Chairman, just in closing, this

         12  is the first step, and if perhaps we need to have

         13  the bill to define who is really the employer and

         14  the employee, so perhaps we will readdress this

         15  whole particular issue, and begin to deal with it on

         16  the level of who is the employer, and who is the

         17  employee and perhaps we need to have a bill

         18  establish that when that contract is signed on that

         19  particular level.

         20                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: That's very

         21  important.

         22                 But on more thing I need to point

         23  out, that the vast majority of domestic workers in

         24  the New York area are in positions not placed by an

         25  agency, a huge majority, and it's important for you
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          2  to realize that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: We're going

          4  to deal with that, but we've got to deal with what

          5  we can now.

          6                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: I know. We covered

          7  everything in the statement, and I hope this time

          8  around, not like last year, you'll pay attention to

          9  this, please.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: We pay

         11  attention all the time.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: We pay

         13  attention to everything.

         14                 One thing you stated earlier is that

         15  you have a list of agencies that are illegal, and

         16  you said you provided that list to the Consumer

         17  Affairs and they didn't do anything about it.

         18                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Could you

         20  provide that list to the Committee?

         21                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Yes, we will.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: We'd be happy

         23  to make sure --

         24                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We will make

         25  copies from the newspaper, from Internet, and --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And present

          3  them to my office and we'll be happy to, more than

          4  willing to look into that, all right?

          5                 And we also want to say formally that

          6  we heard you and I listened to everything you

          7  testified, and we have your testimony in terms of

          8  what actions need to be taken, and like I stated to

          9  the gentleman, Mr. Friedman, earlier, and I think

         10  your statement is pretty much consistent with us in

         11  regard that this bill didn't go forward enough, we

         12  are totally in agreement with that.

         13                 Like I said earlier, that this is the

         14  first step, and the first step to the next step, and

         15  the next step, we will make sure that we get all

         16  those things that you stated, so I hope that you'll

         17  be pleased the next time.

         18                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Yes, we hope so.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Chair would

         20  like to recognize Council Member Espada.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chair.

         23                 You know, apart from what I do in

         24  government, I operate in the heavily regulated

         25  business of delivering medical services, and I'm
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          2  quite astonished, although I agree with the essence

          3  and thrust of your testimony, that is that the bad

          4  guys exist, and that we can't necessarily, and

          5  certainly are not doing so today targeting that

          6  aspect of the practice, which may be the

          7  overwhelming majority of the reasons why this

          8  problem exists.

          9                 However, in the practice of medicine,

         10  the heavily regulated practice of medicine, we live

         11  up to standards that are set many times by the

         12  lowest amongst our ranks. Those that don't carry

         13  malpractice insurance. Those that daily abuse their

         14  patients and what have you, and I would ask you in

         15  your request for a partnership to really reconsider

         16  your role, because we all bear the responsibility.

         17                 The brokers, licensed or unlicensed,

         18  that were involved in the slave trade, those that

         19  were involved unwittingly licensed or not, in any

         20  kind of inhumane treatment of people, we all have a

         21  role, if the role that we have prescribed for you

         22  comes up short, is overly burdensome, then we're

         23  somewhat at fault. But clearly you should think

         24  about what your role should be in helping us achieve

         25  new standards so that we can go out there and work
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          2  together.

          3                 Saying that the problem doesn't

          4  belong on your lap will not get it done. Clearly it

          5  can't all fall on your shoulders, and I hear that

          6  loud and clear.

          7                 I was not here for the testimony that

          8  you previously provided, but like the Chair

          9  indicated, I would be very interested in receiving

         10  the names of those agencies or individuals that you

         11  have identified as real culprits in this manner. But

         12  I would ask you to reconsider your role, please, in

         13  how we can fully enforce that which is before us,

         14  imperfect as it is.

         15                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We are more than

         16  willing to do that. I'm happy to do so. Because,

         17  again, it protects the domestic workers, and they

         18  are in essence our bread and butter. Without them,

         19  and without doing this good job to represent them,

         20  we're out of business.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: I hear that

         22  part.

         23                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Let me say

         24  something further.

         25                 Licensed agencies traditionally have
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          2  played the lead role in bringing better conditions

          3  reform. For example, years ago every agency was

          4  charging fees to the workers for jobs. It was

          5  licensed agencies, us in particular, who took the

          6  lead, and insisted that we don't charge fees to the

          7  workers anymore. We didn't feel it was fair.

          8                 We also felt that that would help us

          9  attract better workers. The more we do for the

         10  workers.

         11                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We doubled our

         12  fees. We literally doubled our fees to the employers

         13  to our clients. We said you are going to now pay us

         14  double, because we're not charging these workers

         15  fees anymore. They don't have the money, you have

         16  the money.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I hear you.

         18                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Our competitors

         19  called us, "what are you crazy? You're going to put

         20  us all out of business." Meanwhile, that's the fair

         21  thing to do. And sure enough, all of the other

         22  agencies in the industry, licensed reputable ones,

         23  followed in our footsteps as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: But just to

         25  close, Mr. Chair, I know we're pressed for time, but

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  again, as the licensed legal transactuals (sic) in

          3  this field, there's much misery here. We're asking

          4  you to do your role. I know that you have to keep

          5  files. I know that it's going to provide for a

          6  certain administrative burden. I doubt very

          7  seriously that those clients that you now have will

          8  leave you for doing the right thing. Very few of

          9  them will do that. And the very few that leave you,

         10  should leave you. Should leave you, and let us try

         11  to catch them in the illegal marketplace and give

         12  them the kind of civil and criminal sanctions they

         13  deserve.

         14                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: What I'd like to

         15  respond to that is, with the confines of this

         16  terrible economy, the pressures of competition the

         17  way it is now, it's very difficult for us to compete

         18  with all of these illegal agencies, the way things

         19  are as it is.

         20                 By adding this burden to us --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You'll make

         22  sure you provide us this list so we can help you,

         23  right?

         24                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Yes, without a

         25  doubt.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay.

          3                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: So what I would

          4  like to say further is any law that addresses these

          5  illegal agencies that will make it easier for us to

          6  compete in the marketplace on a level playing field,

          7  any law that includes that would certainly encourage

          8  us to go way above and beyond what you're asking of

          9  us in this legislation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: In the

         11  meantime, help us out by providing us that.

         12                 The Chair recognizes Council Member

         13  Brewer.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quickly.

         15                 First of all, thank you for being

         16  here. I know that you testified last time, and I

         17  know that the Department of Consumer Affairs, I

         18  don't know if you heard when the Deputy Commissioner

         19  testified, but the Commissioner and her staff are

         20  serving all legal and all the illegal agencies and

         21  they're going to work with this committee and with

         22  the City Council as a whole to try to rectify the

         23  situation. And I think that your list is being

         24  reviewed. I know that the Committee will review it

         25  also. You should look at yourself as working,

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  actually thanks to the initiation of the domestic

          3  workers and the women here, they were all part of a

          4  new day, because we are going to work hard to make

          5  sure that your agencies are highlighted as the ones

          6  that are doing it right, making sure that the other

          7  agencies are out of business and that there's a new

          8  day for the whole world of employment and employees.

          9                 I, as a potential person, looking

         10  like me are probably most of your clients, and I

         11  would be glad to sign that piece of paper.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you for

         15  your testimony, gentlemen. Thank you.

         16                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Thank you for

         17  having us.

         18                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Committee

         20  now recognizes our final witness, Marla

         21  Brettschneider.

         22                 Could you please state your name for

         23  the record and which agency you're representing.

         24                 MS. BRETTSCHNEIDER: I'm Marla

         25  Brettschneider. Thank you to the Committee and to
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          2  all of you Council members.

          3                 I'm a mother of two pre-school-aged

          4  children, from the Bronx, and I actually know, in

          5  response to the last testimony, I know that

          6  clarifying work responsibilities is actually key to

          7  fair employment relations.

          8                 I'm an Executive Director of Jews for

          9  Racial and Economic Justice, speaking on behalf of

         10  my organization.

         11                 With active members across the City

         12  JFREJ strongly supports Resolution 135 and Intro.

         13  96-A.

         14                 Domestic workers have waited over a

         15  year to pass this bill and resolution, recognizing a

         16  most basic right that their hard work is exactly

         17  that, work.

         18                 96 and 135 are important steps, I

         19  agree with you, towards enforcing domestic workers'

         20  rights that they already technically have, and it's

         21  unconscionable to make them wait any longer on this

         22  step, then we can work together on even stronger

         23  actions.

         24                 At JFREJ we're concerned about the

         25  rights of domestic workers and we're using our
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          2  communal and our institutional connections to

          3  employer networks spreading the word amongst

          4  employer communities.

          5                 Our employee members at JFREJ, like

          6  any reasonable employers, affirmatively want to be

          7  part of an industry, where good working conditions,

          8  relations and respect are the norm and not the

          9  exception.

         10                 Next week, for your information,

         11  we're holding public forum at the large Jewish

         12  Community Center of Manhattan about the Domestic

         13  Workers United Campaign, and we sincerely hope that

         14  we'll be able to tell our constituents there that

         15  the City Council has made a major step forward on

         16  the road to justice for workers in our City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you very

         18  much, Ms. Brettschneider.

         19                 Thank you for your testimony.

         20                 MS. BRETTSCHNEIDER: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Before I call

         22  for the vote, I just want to state for the public

         23  that, I want to thank everyone for coming here to

         24  testify today, and thank you for your testimony last

         25  year.
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          2                 I want to, again, apologize on behalf

          3  of the Committee for not coming to -- I know we had

          4  promised that package before the end of last year,

          5  the buck stops here and I take the responsibility

          6  for that not happening, but there was some

          7  negotiation that had to be done between the Council

          8  and the Mayor's Office and the Agency of Consumer

          9  Affairs, and apparently that got worked out not too

         10  long ago and we're here to vote on this today.

         11                 I want to be clear that the Council

         12  does listen to the testimonies of everyone here, and

         13  we do keep on record all the testimony that comes

         14  in, and everyone who spoke today, particular the two

         15  -- gentlemen from the two different agencies, that

         16  we are listening to you, we did hear your message,

         17  and this will not be the last piece of legislation

         18  on this issue, there will be something else in the

         19  future.

         20                 Thank you, again, for stopping by

         21  today and testifying. Thank you.

         22                 Okay, this bill will be enforced in

         23  90 days after today, after it's passage today, and

         24  there's been an amendment to the bill which has been

         25  given to Consumer Affairs, I know the public doesn't
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          2  have that amended version now, but that amended

          3  version has been amended today, and we'll pass it

          4  over to Consumer Affairs.

          5                 Excuse me. One correction. It will be

          6  enforced 90 days after it goes to the Council. The

          7  Council will take a vote on this bill, I believe, on

          8  May 14th, and 90 days from that date of, if it's

          9  submitted in the Council, this bill will be in full

         10  force. If it passes this Committee today, so excuse

         11  me for being presumptuous.  First we have to first

         12  get the vote from our Counsel.

         13                 So, at this moment, what I'm going to

         14  do, gentlemen of the Committee, I'm going to couple

         15  Resolution 135, and couple Intro. No. 96-A, so you

         16  can vote aye on all, if you would like. But just

         17  because they're coupled, if you don't want to vote

         18  on one, you could say aye on one, no on the other,

         19  or no on both, okay?

         20                 So, at this time I ask the clerk to

         21  call the roll.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jennings.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I
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          2  enthusiastically vote aye on both.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Mr.

          5  Chairman, may I be excused to explain my vote?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Sure, you may.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I think that

          8  this is a bill that my colleague Gale Brewer and

          9  others should be committed for starting. This is the

         10  practice that we have lived with too long in this

         11  society and done too little about.

         12                 Slavery was abolished in this nation

         13  in 1865. The practice that some people talked about

         14  today was a given point that actually slavery is

         15  still in existence. These are people who actually

         16  really believe that they have servants and slaves

         17  that work for them, and so that mentality has to be

         18  changed and this bill is a step in the right

         19  direction, to see to it that that change takes

         20  place.

         21                 These are workers, these are people

         22  who actually have the right to all that is afforded

         23  all workers in America. I think that this is a good

         24  step, and we will move to do what has to be done

         25  until this practice is cleaned up, because if these
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          2  people are good enough to take care of your

          3  children, then they should be good enough to be

          4  treated as human beings.

          5                 So, I vote enthusiastically yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Espada.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Mr. Chairman,

          8  I request leave to explain my vote?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You may.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Mr. Chairman,

         11  I will be voting aye on both of these matters, but I

         12  do want to go on record as indicating that we all do

         13  recognize, I believe all of us as colleagues,

         14  recognize that the City government is a part of

         15  this, the State, the federal government, the various

         16  enforcement agencies, have to do much more in this

         17  regard. I would hate for those that are heavily

         18  impacted, whether it be in any realm of

         19  exploitation, for them to leave here today thinking

         20  that our job is done, our job is not done.

         21                 Clearly, the Bill of Rights, the

         22  Constitution of the City, State and federal

         23  government, are sitting on shelves. It would

         24  continue to serve no purpose if we were not to daily

         25  exercise those rights and to do more.
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          2                 We stand, I think, as a body

          3  convinced that we can do more, as you've heard our

          4  Chair and others indicate, but clearly we must spend

          5  the money on enforcement.

          6                 And I would add that we have to have

          7  a multilingual explanation of these stated rights so

          8  that indeed the Consumer Affairs must understand

          9  itself that in order to transmit this accurately and

         10  effectively, they need to provide it

         11  multi-linguistically. I vote aye on both.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

         13  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         14  abstentions, both items are adopted.

         15                 Council Members, please sign the

         16  Committee reports. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS:

         18  Congratulations. I'd like to thank, again, Council

         19  Member Gale Brewer for her vision in introducing

         20  this bill, and we know that most of the members of

         21  this Committee, with exception of our new member,

         22  I'm sure he would have co-sponsored this bill as

         23  well if he was here, when it was introduced. And,

         24  again, thank you for your fine work.

         25                 I will recognize Council Member
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          2  Brewer.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Just to say

          4  thank you to everyone here, to Council Member

          5  Jennings in particular, and all who stayed

          6  throughout, and domestic workers united, big

          7  accolades. Thank you so much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: This hearing is

          9  now closed.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 11:55 a.m.)
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